RECEIVED

Aug 20 2025

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Horry County

Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

SAMANTHA FORD RABON,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2024-000330

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

GARY H JOHNSON
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

I. Did the trial court err in failing to direct a verdict in favor of appellant on indictments for two murders committed by Randy Grainger under an alleged murder-for-hire conspiracy when, taking the evidence in the light most favorable to the state, the alleged actions of appellant in assisting Grainger amounted to criminal responsibility as an accessory before the fact and not as a principal, thereby impermissibly allowing the state to extend the reach of accomplice liability under the hand of one hand of all theory?

II. Did the trial court err in failing to suppress evidence collected from appellant's home under a search warrant that contained material omissions of facts that negated a finding of probable cause in violation of the Fourth Amendment?

III. Did the trial court err in finding a facially defective search warrant that misidentified the location and source of a cell phone, that was itself improperly seized in violation of the Fourth Amendment, was excused since the cell phone was subject to inevitable discovery?

IV. Did the trial court err in failing to charge the jury regarding third-party guilt when evidence was introduced during trial that raised a reasonable inference that appellant was innocent and a third-party was the conspirator in the crimes charged?

V. Did the trial court err in allowing co-defendant Randy Grainger to speculate regarding his fear that appellant would have her own kids killed for profit when the money appellant inherited from her murdered father and brother ran out?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 28, 2024, a Horry County grand jury indicted Appellant for two counts of murder (2021-GS-26-4432 and 2021-GS-26-4433); two counts of solicitation to commit a felony (2022-GS-26-4620 and 2022-GS-26-4622); and two counts of criminal conspiracy (2022-GS-26-4444 and 2022-GS-26-4445) arising out of the death of her father, Robert Ford, and her brother, Robbie Ford, who were shot and killed on August 17, 2018. R. 1086-1087; 1090; 1093-1094; 1097-1098; 1101-1102; 1105-1106; 1109-1112. The state also indicted appellant as an accessory before the fact under S.C. Code Ann. § 16-1-40 (1976 as amended). However, before trial, the state dismissed the accessory indictments. R. 1109. The state, represented by Mary-Ellen Walter and Leigh Andrew Waller, called the case for trial before the Honorable Benjamin Culbertson and a jury on February 20 – 28, 2024. R. 1. Stephen Grooms and Bradley Richardson represented appellant. R. 1. The jury found appellant guilty as indicted on all charges. R. 1049, 1. 8 – 1050, 1. 16. Judge Culberston sentenced appellant to life for each of the murder convictions, five years for each of the conspiracy convictions, and ten years for each of the solicitation convictions, all sentences to run consecutively. R. 1056, 1. 22 – 1057, 1. 8. R. 1088-1089; 1091-1092; 1095-1096; 1099-1100; 1103-1104; 1107-1108.

On March 1, 2024, appellant filed her notice of appeal. This brief follows.

ARGUMENT

I. The trial court erred in failing to direct a verdict in favor of appellant on indictments for two murders committed by Randy Grainger under an alleged murder-for-hire conspiracy when, taking the evidence in the light most favorable to the state, the alleged actions of appellant in assisting Grainger amounted to criminal responsibility as an accessory before the fact and not as a principal, thereby impermissibly allowing the state to extend the reach of accomplice liability under the hand of one hand of all theory.

A. Standard of Review

This Court reviews the denial of a directed verdict motion in a criminal case under the any evidence standard of review. “If there is any direct evidence or any substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused, the Court must find the case was properly submitted to the jury.” State v. Harris, 413 S.C. 454, 457, 776 S.E.2d 365, 366 (2015). “When reviewing a denial of a directed verdict, this Court views the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the state.” State v. Weston, 367 S.C. 279, 292, 625 S.E.2d 641, 648 (2006).

B. Relevant facts.

The state indicted appellant as both a principal for murder under S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-10 (1976 as amended) and as an accessory before the fact under S.C. Code Ann. § 16-1-40 (1976 as amended) in the deaths of Robert and Robbie Ford. However, before trial, the state dismissed the accessory indictments, electing to try appellant solely under S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-10 (1976 as amended). R. 1109. The language of the murder indictments mirror each other (except for the name of the victim) asserting:

That Samantha Ford Rabon did, in Horry County, on or about August 17, 2018, willfully, feloniously, and intentionally kill the victim, Robert Ford, Jr., with malice aforethought, either express or implied, by means of shooting, and the victim did die as a proximate result thereof on or about August 17, 2018 in Horry

County, in violation of Section 16-03-0010, S. C. Code of Laws, 1976, as amended.

R. 1086-1087; 1090.

The evidence introduced at trial established that Randy Grainger shot and killed both Robert and Robbie Ford as he freely admitted to killing both men. R. 786, ll. 13 – 25. Grainger asserted he was hired to kill them by appellant in exchange for the payment of \$20,000.00. R. 758, ll. 5 – 21; 771, ll. 12 – 23. Grainger claimed he both met and spoke to appellant on a single occasion, approximately one week before the murders, and planned the entire crime at that single meeting. R. 758, l. 22 – 760, l. 10. Prior to this meeting, Grainger did not know appellant from “Adam’s house cat.” R. 813, ll. 3 – 7. During this single meeting, Grainger claimed appellant supplied a handgun to be used during the murders:

Well, she -- she gave me a .38 and told me to use that and said she had stole it from her daddy's house when she went over to do some cleaning, and she wanted it to look like a robbery -- a robbery gone bad.

R. 757, ll. 9 – 12.

Teresa Martin, Grainger’s girlfriend, allegedly handled all direct communication with appellant from that moment forward since it was less suspicious for Martin to contact appellant.

R. 771, ll. 10 – 23.

Q You just said that you didn't want there to be any sort of trail between you and the defendant. What do you mean?

A Well, that's -- I never -- *the only time I ever spoke to her was that day on the porch. I never called her, texted her, contacted her no kind of way that would lead back to me and her having contact with each other.* Because I knew if -- she probably would be the first suspect because she was the one who was going to inherit everything that -- you know, usually whoever is going to inherit is usually the first suspect.

R. 758, l. 22 – 759, l. 7 (emphasis added).

On the day of the murders approximately one week later, Martin drove Grainger close to the Ford home and dropped him off around 5:30 p.m. R. 761, ll. 13 – 763, l. 25. Grainger then walked to a concealed area on the property and waited for the next three hours for the Fords to get home. R. 764, ll. 1 – 24. When the Fords arrived home, Grainger stepped from cover and shot Robert Ford in the back of the head as Robert walked up the rear stairs of the home; then shot and injured Robbie Ford near the vehicle in which they arrived home. R. 765, ll. 1 – 7. To be sure both were dead, Grainger then walked to the injured Robbie and shot him in the back of the head. R. 766, ll. 1 – 5. Grainger then did the same to Robert. R. 766, ll. 6 – 11. After killing both Robert and Robbie Ford, Grainger took keys to a vehicle and the wallets from the Fords' pockets and drove their vehicle away from the scene. Grainger travelled across Horry County approximately 20 miles towards the home he shared with Martin. R. 767, l. 1 - 12. Grainger then pulled the vehicle off the road, changed some of his clothing, and set the interior of the vehicle on fire in an attempt to destroy evidence such as his DNA.¹ R. 768, ll. 11 - 22. Grainger then walked for a period of time before contacting Martin by cell phone, who then picked Grainger up as he walked toward their shared home. R. 770, l. 4 - 22. There was no evidence presented by the state that appellant was in the vicinity of the Ford home or took an active role in the actions of Grainger on the day of the murders.

At the close of the state's case, counsel for appellant moved for a directed verdict on the murder indictment.

The State's failed to show Samantha Ford Rabon was anywhere near the scene of the murder. To the contrary, they have shown she was not near the scene immediately prior to, during, or immediately afterwards. They failed to show she was the getaway

¹ Grainger dropped several cigarette buds at this location and the fire did not completely consume the clothing he left in the vehicle. Ultimately, his DNA was extracted from these pieces of evidence and introduced during appellant's trial. R. 477, l. 4 – 478, l. 16; 487, l. 2 – 488, l. 23.

driver or had any contact with anyone in close proximity to the timing, Your Honor.

In the light most favorable to the State, we concede that Teresa and Randy, they may have the conspiracy and solicitation charge at least enough to put back to the jury, but they can't put her at the scene at the time, Your Honor.

R. 821, l. 23 - 822, l. 9. In response, the state argued accomplice liability applied under the hand of one hand of all theory, noting: "She gave him the murder weapon and told them -- told him or told Teresa when they'd be home, where to find them, when it had to be done." R. 1113, ll. 9-15. Relying on the accomplice liability theory of hand of one hand of all and "constructive presence," the trial court denied the motion and submitted the case to the jury.

During argument on the directed verdict motion, the trial court noted:

THE COURT: Give me whatever you want. I mean, I think the critical thing is, is supplying a murder weapon, does that constitute the "hand of one is the hand of all"? I mean, I don't think there's any dispute she was not there. She didn't drive him there. She didn't assist -- as I understand the State's reliance saying she aided and abetted is the providing the murder weapon and telling them the date and the time and the place.

R. 1114, l. 20 – 1115, l. 2.

Ultimately, the trial court denied the motion for a directed verdict, ruling:

THE COURT: All right. Well, I agree that the "hand of one, hand of all" requires either actual presence, which we do not have in this case, or what's referred to as constructive presence. There's no appellate decision that defines what constructive presence is.

However, the State has presented two cases. And, Mr. Richardson, you presented one: State v. Chavis. And State v. Condrey -- I mean, the State presented State v. Condrey, which had convictions under "the hand of one is the hand of all" when neither party was actually present at the commission of the crime.

One of them dealt with planning and providing a firearm for a robbery and then was not there at the time of the robbery, but they

said the participation – that got them around the directed verdict stage.

And then, in Condrey, it dealt with a person charged with grand larceny who basically bought shoes off an 18-wheeler that had been stolen from a factory. One wasn't there when the shoes were stolen from the factory but they said it was part of a common scheme and plan, and so he was not entitled to a directed verdict on "the hand of one is the hand of all" ---

MR. RICHARDSON: And, Your Honor –

THE COURT: -- position by the State. Yes?

MR. RICHARDSON: With regard to Condrey -- and I may be wrong, but as I recall the facts on that, the truck was actually driven by a delivery driver for Shoe Show out of Charlotte, and he met with Condrey, and they took the boxes off. And that was the grand larceny. He was aiding and abetting the person present whenever the shoes were being removed and placed in the car. So he did take some action with regard to the loss.

THE COURT: Well, and I understand that, but I think viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State at this juncture, saying that there was a solicitation and that the defendant provided the firearm and the information as to when and where the victims were going to be at home, that gets -- gets the State around the directed verdict, and so I'm going to deny the motion for directed verdict.

R. 825, l. 4 – 826, l. 19.

C. Discussion.

This issue involves the distinction between being criminally liable as an accomplice versus as an accessory to the criminal act. The common law has a clear distinction between the two sources of criminal responsibility:

The common law clearly distinguished between principals and accessories in the crime of murder. That distinction has been recognized in the judicial history of this state. While the punishment of principals and accessories before the fact in felonies is the same under section 919, volume 2 of the Code 1922, this court has recognized the distinction between principals and accessories before the fact.

State v. Jennings, 158 S.C. 422, 155 S.E. 621, 622 (1930).

“Guilt as a principal is established by presence at the scene as a result of prearrangement to aid, encourage, or abet in the perpetration of a crime.” State v. Chavis, 277 S.C. 521, 522, 290 S.E.2d 412, 412 (1982). Some level of physical participation during the commission of the actual crime is required to charge an individual as a principal. *See Id.*, at 523, 290 S.E.2d at 413 (“In the present case, evidence indicates appellant helped plan the robbery, appeared at the scene prior to the crime, provided necessary weapons and tools, and received a portion of the proceeds. Even though he did not accompany the actual perpetrators, submission of the case to the jury is justified.”). In State v. Brazzell, 223 S.C. 103, 74 S.E.2d 573 (1953), our Supreme Court noted that evidence presented was “undisputed that appellant took no part in the actual robbery and was not present at the time of its commission. Neither did he act as a watcher, take any part in the commission of the crime or aid in the escape of those engaged in the immediate commission of the unlawful act.” *Id.*, 223 S.C. at 107–08, 74 S.E.2d at 574–75.

By contrast, State v. Condrey, 349 S.C. 184, 562 S.E.2d 320 (Ct. App. 2002), relied upon by the trial court in denying the motion, showed just such active participation as an accomplice:

The evidence at trial supported the charge regarding the “hand of one is the hand of all.” The State presented direct evidence showing the joint criminal activities of Condrey and West. West testified Condrey approached him about getting some shoes. *The men then planned several meetings where West unloaded the shoes off of the Shoe Show truck onto Condrey's vehicle. Condrey paid West for the shoes. Thereafter, Condrey sold them at the flea market.* The trial testimony constituted sufficient evidence whereby a jury could find Condrey was a willing accomplice in the crimes.

Condrey, 349 S.C. at 194–95, 562 S.E.2d at 325 (emphasis added). In Condrey, the accused actively participated in criminal activity by assisting the principal in the actual theft of the shoes from the transport vehicle when they were stolen.

In electing to try appellant for murder under S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-10 (1976 as amended) rather than as an accessory before the fact under S.C. Code Ann. § 16-1-40 (1976 as amended), the state assumed the burden to establish appellant was a principal in the murders. To meet this burden, the state argued that appellant fell under the accomplice liability through the hand of one hand of all reasoning. To avoid the impact dictated by its election to indict appellant as a principal, the state attempted to stretch accomplice liability beyond any semblance of an active participant in the crime to encompass all people connected in the chain of events leading to the crime. This is a path this Court should reject since a well-developed field of law exists that encompasses those that aide or abet in a crime before the act.

Accomplice liability, under the hand of one hand of all, requires more than mere presence—it requires some active participation beyond the mere discussion or planning of a criminal event.

The doctrine of accomplice liability arises from the theory that “the hand of one is the hand of all.” 23 S.C. Jur. Homicide § 22.1 (2014). Under this theory, one who joins with another to accomplish an illegal purpose is liable criminally for everything done by his confederate incidental to the execution of the common design and purpose. State v. Mattison, 388 S.C. 469, 479, 697 S.E.2d 578, 584 (2010). *A person must personally commit the crime or be present at the scene of the crime and intentionally, or through a common design, aid, abet, or assist in the commission of that crime through some overt act to be guilty under a theory of accomplice liability.* State v. Langley, 334 S.C. 643, 648–49, 515 S.E.2d 98, 101 (1999). Accordingly, proof of mere presence is insufficient, and the State must present evidence the participant knew of the principal's criminal conduct. State v. Leonard, 292 S.C. 133, 137, 355 S.E.2d 270, 272 (1987). If “a person was ‘present abetting while any act necessary to constitute the offense

[was] being performed through another,' he could be charged as a principal—even 'though [that act was] not the whole thing necessary.'" Rosemond v. United States, — U.S. —, 134 S. Ct. 1240, 1246, 188 L.Ed.2d 248 (2014) (alteration in original) (quoting 1 J. Bishop, Commentaries on the Criminal Law § 649, p. 392 (7th ed. 1882)).

State v. Reid, 408 S.C. 461, 472–73, 758 S.E.2d 904, 910 (2014) (emphasis added).

Appellant acknowledges it is “well-settled that a defendant may be convicted on a theory of accomplice liability pursuant to an indictment charging him only with the principal offense” State v. Dickman, 341 S.C. 293, 295, 534 S.E.2d 268, 269 (2000). However, under such an indictment, the facts presented during trial must establish accomplice liability, typically through affirmative acts of participation as an accomplice, as opposed to facts establishing being an accessory before (or after) the fact.

The facts in the present case, taken in the light most favorable to the state, fit within the confines of accessory before the fact, not as an accomplice to the principal. Our Supreme Court examined analogous factual allegations in the companion cases of State v. Smith, 316 S.C. 53, 447 S.E.2d 175 (1993) and State v. Prince, 316 S.C. 57, 447 S.E.2d 177 (1993).² Smith and Prince were alleged to have solicited and conspired with other individuals to kill a business associate, Billy Graham, to further their financial interests. Another individual, Charles McCray, confessed to killing Graham as a murder for hire and the state was able to establish McCray had been murdered. Prince, 316 S.C. at 60–61, 447 S.E.2d at 179.

² Both Smith and Prince were indicted for murder as well as conspiracy, solicitation, and accessory. At the close of the state’s case, both were granted a directed verdict on the murder charge, in contrast with appellant’s case. *See Prince*, 316 S.C. at 62, 447 S.E.2d at 180 (“At the conclusion of the State’s case, the trial judge granted a directed verdict to Smith and Prince on the charge of murder but denied Prince’s motions on the charge of accessory before the fact of murder and conspiracy.”)

In noting the sufficiency of the evidence to support accessory liability as an accessory before the fact, our Supreme Court noted: “Accessory before the fact of murder requires a showing that the accused: (1) either advised and agreed, urged, or in some way aided some other person to commit the offense; (2) *was not present when the offense was committed*; and (3) that some principal committed the crime.” Smith, 316 S.C. at 55, 447 S.E.2d at 176 (emphasis added). The state could have proceeded against appellant under the facts presented during trial as an accessory before the fact under S.C. Code Ann. § 16-1-40 (1976 as amended) under their original indictments. Under Smith, the fact appellant was “not present” would have been an element of the offense the state was required to establish and would have fit the evidence the state presented during trial. However, since the state elected to try appellant for murder as a principal under S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-10 (1976 as amended) and dismiss the indictments for accessory before the fact under S.C. Code Ann. § 16-1-40 (1976 as amended), some evidence was required of appellant’s presence to aid and abet the commission of the crime when it occurred. Evidence of prior planning and aid a week before was insufficient.

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