**RECEIVED**

**Jun 06 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY  
The Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA.....RESPONDENT

v.

SAMANTHA FORD RABON.....APPELLANT

---

**INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

Appellant Case No. 2024-000330

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

TOMMY EVANS, JR.  
Assistant Attorney General  
P.O. Box 111549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-6305

JIMMY A. RICHARDSON  
Solicitor, Fifteenth Judicial District  
P.O. Box 1276

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

authorization. Good faith will not apply when the affidavit is “so lacking in indicia of probable cause as to render official belief in its existence entirely unreasonable.” *Id.*, 468 U.S. at 923, 104 S.Ct. at 3421. It should be obvious that law enforcement had good faith that this warrant was lawful. *Leon*, established that, “pursuant to warrant will rarely require any deep inquiry into reasonableness, for a warrant issued by a magistrate normally suffices to establish that a law enforcement officer has acted in good faith in conducting the search.” *Id.*, 468 U.S. at 922, 104 S.Ct. at 3420.

*Leon* establishes that an officer reliance on a warrant will not qualify as “objectively reasonable” only in four circumstances:

- (1) Where “the magistrate or judge in issuing the warrant was misled by information in an affidavit that the affiant knew was false or would have known was false except for his reckless disregard of the truth. *Id.*, 468 U.S. at 923, 104 S.Ct. at 3405.
- (2) Where “the magistrate acted as a rubber stamp for the officers and so ‘wholly abandoned his detached and neutral ‘judicial role’” *U.S. v. Bynum*, 293 F.3d 192, 195 (4<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2002), *quoting, Leon*, 468 U.S. at 923, 104 S.Ct. 3405.
- (3) Where a supporting affidavit is “so lacking in indicia of probable cause as to render official belief in its existence entirely unreasonable.” *Leon*, 468 U.S. at 923, 104 S.Ct. at 3405.
- (4) Where “a warrant is so facially deficient . . . i.e. in failing to particularize the place to be searched or the things to be seized . . . that the executing officers cannot reasonably presume it to be valid. *Id.*

False information was not knowingly given to the magistrate during the application of the warrant; the magistrate had not “rubber stamped” the warrant prior to its execution; there was sufficient probable cause on the face of the affidavit; nor was the warrant affidavit “facially deficient,” so none of the above listed factors apply.

Detective Dudley mistakenly listed the Randy address in the warrant. However, there is no evidence that he did this on purpose. The Magistrate did not just rubber stamp this warrant, especially when the Magistrate submitted an affidavit stating, “I would have followed my habit

and asked for a verbal recitation of the basis of probable cause.” (\*R). There was testimony given under oath given to the Magistrate before this search warrant was approved. The search warrant mentioned what was is to be searched, the electronics and phones found. It just inadvertently mentioned the wrong location where they were found, however, since the phone was in the possession of law enforcement it did not matter. The phone was already seized from a prior valid search warrant. Due to the good faith doctrine, this warrant will still be valid.

If the court finds this search warrant was not valid and that the trial court was in error in allowing the phone contents into evidence the Respondent argues that this decision should be considered harmless. There was more than ample evidence proving that the Appellant was guilty beyond a reasonable doubt without the contents of the phone or the Cellebrite information evidence. There was testimony from the Randy and Teresa that a deal was offered by the Appellant to Randy regarding receiving \$200,000 for the killing of her father and brother. Randy, who himself was serving a life sentence, testified that the Appellant came up to him offered him this money to kill her family members, and provided him with the murder weapon.

Jimm Tompkins a Certified Financial Planner with Edward Jones testified that the Appellant was the beneficiary of accounts that Robert and Robbie had with them. (Tr. p. 630 l. 10). Upon their deaths, the Appellant opened an account with Edward Jones and the amount in Robert and Robbie’s accounts were automatically transferred into her account. (Tr. p. 630 l. 11-13). There was an IRA that Robert had that was also transferred into her account. (Tr. p. 636 l. 19). The total she inherited was around \$175,000.00 and the Appellant withdrew about \$100,000. (Tr. p. 640 l. 19 – p. 641 l. 3). Holly Pingatore, who worked for South State Bank, testified that both Robert and Robbie had accounts in South State Bank that were immediately closed with the remaining balances going to the Appellant. (Tr. p. 647 l. 3-13; p. 648 l. 12 – p. 649 l. 6)). In June 2018 there

was \$90,000 in that account and by May 2019 there was only \$948.78 remaining. (Tr. p. 649 l. 17 – p. 650 l. 2). Kenneth Thompson, who was the life insurance agent for both Robert and Robbie, testified that Robert had a life insurance policy worth \$128,012 (Tr. p. 664 l. 14-17), that had Robbie as the beneficiary and Appellant as the contingent. (Tr. p. 661 l. 19-21). So, the Appellant would not have received any money from this policy unless Robbie was deceased as well. (Tr. p. 662 l. 2-4). Robbie also had a policy worth \$28,835. (Tr. p. 663 l. 24 – p. 664 l. 6). Mr. Larry Roscoe, an assessor for Horry County, testified that upon Robert’s death the Appellant received ownership of an almost sixteen-acre tract in Conway and the deed to Robert’s house. (Tr. p. 682 l. 15-16; p. 684 l. 15-23). In closing, Assistant Solicitor Walter stated that the Appellant was set to inherit a home, farmland, cash, investment accounts, IRA’s, and pensions worth about 1.2 million dollars. (Tr. p. 1064 l. 5-7). That was definitely motive to kill her father and brother which did not have anything to do with the evidence found in her phone. There was also the matter of the murder weapon which was reported stolen by the Appellant ten months before the murders. (Tr. p. 1005 l. 10 – 19).

Although all this is circumstantial evidence, there was enough evidence for a jury to convict the Appellant even without the phone information that was allowed into evidence. So, if this evidence was not allowed it would not have changed the outcome of the trial. If it appears beyond a reasonable doubt that the error did not contribute to the verdict, then the error may be deemed harmless. *State v. Trapp*, 398 S.C. 376, 389, 728 S.E.2d 468, 475 (2012).

- 4. The trial court did not err in not giving a jury charge for third party guilt. The evidence raised regarding arson the Appellant’s mother may have committed occurred seven years prior and did not raise a reasonable inference or presumption**

**of the Appellant's innocence, only cast a bare suspicion or raised a conjectural inference so it is thereby inadmissible.**

Relevant Facts

During the trial the Appellant raised the fact that there was a warrant for arson that was pending for the Appellant's mother, Shelia Ford Burris (Shelia). Sheila was accused of burning down the Appellant's grandmother's house, which was the house Sheila and Robert was rebuilding. (Tr. p. 977 l. 25 – p. 978 l. 4). The State objected to allowing this into evidence since this occurred seven years prior to the murder and there was no connection to this arson and these murders. (Tr. p. 979 l. 9-14). During the trial the Appellant attempted to get the trial judge to charge the jury on third party guilt. The Appellant argued that it was Ms. Burris on the phone with Teresa the night of the murder, and not the Appellant. The trial court decided not to charge the jury on third-party guilt.

Standard of Review

To warrant reversal, a trial judge's refusal to give a requested jury charge must be both erroneous and prejudicial to the defendant. *State v. Mattison*, 388 S.C. 469, 479, 697 S.E.2d 578, 583 (2010). An appellate court will not reverse the trial judge's decision regarding a jury charge absent an abuse of discretion. *State v. Pittman*, 373 S.C. 527, 570, 647 S.E.2d 144, 166 (2007). An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, without evidentiary support. *Id.* In order to be admissible, facts offered in support of a third party guilt defense must "raise a reasonable inference or presumption as to his own innocence; evidence which can have (no) other effect than to cast a bare suspicion upon another, or to raise a conjectural inference as to the commission of the crime by another, is not admissible. *State v. Gregory*, 198 S.C. 98, 16 S.E.2d 532, 534 (1941), quoting, 16 C.J. Criminal Law §1085 (1918).

## Discussion

The Appellant argues that the trial court erred in not charging the jury on third-party guilt due to evidence raised concerning the mother of the Appellant, Shelia, who was accused of burning down the house of the Appellant's grandmother that she was going to live in with Appellant's father. The Respondent argues that there was no evidence linking Shelia to this crime other than a phone call between Shelia and Teresa lasting 30 minutes on the night of the murder. There was no evidence presented regarding what transpired during this conversation. There was no motive for Shelia to commit this murder, all of the inheritance went to the Appellant. Shelia did not receive anything from the death of Robert and Robbie. This supposed arson occurred seven years prior to the murder, and the defense presented no evidence that Shelia wanted the victims dead or that she had any contact with Randy regarding planning the murder of the victims.

The possible link between this arson and these murders was just conjecture. Nothing that was presented linked Shelia to these murders that would totally absolve the Appellant of guilt. As stated in *State v. Gregory*,

Before such testimony can be received, there must be such proof of connection with it, such a train of facts or circumstances, as tends clearly to point out such other person as the guilty party. Remote acts, disconnected and outside the crime itself, cannot be separately proved for such purpose. An orderly and unbiased judicial inquiry as to the guilt or innocence of a defendant on trial does not contemplate that such defendant be permitted, by way of defense, to indulge in conjectural inferences that some other person might have committed the offense for which he is on trial, or by fanciful analogy to say to the jury that someone other than he is more probably guilty.

*Gregory*, 198 S.C. at 98, 16 S.E.2d at 535.

The only evidence of Shelia's possible link to this case was a phone call on the night of the offense to Teresa. However, there was no proof provided that this conversation had anything to do with the murder of the victims. Teresa also testified that she knew Shelia and that she lived right across

the yard from her house and she was Teresa's second cousin. So that conversation could have been about anything. The Appellant failed to provide any evidence that this conversation was about the murders. Appellant failed to raise any evidence linking Shelia to this crime. The trial judge was correct in not charging the jury on third party guilt.

- 5. The trial court did not err in allowing Randy Grainger to testify as to his opinion regarding why he decided to testify which was based on his perception, giving the jury a clear understanding of why he decided to testify, and it did not require any special knowledge, skill, or experience, this statement also did not have any bearing on the trial's final outcome thereby making any error allowing this statement harmless.**

#### Relevant Facts

During his testimony, Randy was asked about his reasoning for testifying. Randy discussed possibly seeing the "light of day" at some time in the future. (Tr. p. 908 l. 10-12). Then he was asked if there was any other reason for his testimony. Randy stated, "Well I give it a lot of thought. And Samantha done hired somebody to kill her brother and her daddy. When that money runs out, who is she going to kill next? Her kids? Them kids ain't hurt nobody." The Appellant objected to this answer which was overruled by the trial court. The Appellant now argues that the court erred in allowing Randy to speculate regarding his fear that the Appellant would kill her own kids for profit. The Respondent argues that this is a lay witness opinion, so it is allowed pursuant to Rule 701 of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence.

#### Standard of Review

The admission or exclusion of evidence is left to the sound discretion of the trial judge, whose discretion will not be reversed on appeal absent and abuse of discretion. *State v. Tucker*, 319 S.C. 425, 428, 462 S.E.2d 263, 265 (1995). An abuse of discretion occurs when the court's decision is unsupported by the evidence or controlled by an error of law. *State v. King*, 422 S.C. 47, 54, 810

S.E.2d 18, 22 (2017). Error is harmless when it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial. *State v. Reeves*, 301 S.C. 191, 193-94, 391 S.E.2d 241, 243 (1990).

Discussion

The Appellant argues that the trial judge erred in allowing testimony regarding a statement made by the Randy regarding the Appellant killing her children for money. Randy was asked a question regarding why he decided to testify. His answer was his perception regarding how dangerous the Appellant was and the fact he found it to be an obligation to testify. As stated in the South Carolina rules of evidence,

If the witness is not testifying as an expert, the witness'[s] testimony in the form of opinions or inferences is limited to those opinions or inferences which (a) are rationally based on the perception of the witness, (b) are helpful to a clear understanding of the witness'[s] testimony or determination of the fact in issue, and (c) do not require special knowledge, skill experience or training.

Rule 701, SCRE.

The witness was asked a question why he decided to testify. His answer was that since the Appellant contracted to kill her father and brother, when the money runs out, she may kill her kids. The Randy has first-hand knowledge of the Appellant contracting someone to kill her family members, because he was the one that she contracted with, he killed her father and brother. This statement was made to give the jury an idea why he decided to testify, even though he is serving a life sentence with absolutely no guarantee if it ever would be reduced. This statement did not need any special knowledge or training. It was from his own experiences. He was contacted by the Appellant to kill her father and brother for \$20,000. That is first-hand knowledge of the type of person the Appellant is. Testimony in the form of an opinion or inference otherwise admissible is not objectionable because it embraces an ultimate issue to be decided by the trier of fact. *State v. Fripp*, 396 S.C. 434, 439, 721 S.E.2d 465, 467 (Ct. App. 2012), *quoting*, Rule 704, SCRE.

The Respondent does not concede that the statement of the Randy was unlawful but just his lay opinion from his observation that is allowed pursuant to Rule 701 of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence. However, if the Court decided that this was allowed in error it should be considered harmless. When determining if an error is harmless, jurisprudence requires not to question whether the State proved their case beyond a reasonable doubt, but whether beyond a reasonable doubt the trial error did not contribute to the guilty verdict. *Trapp*, 398 S.C. at 390, 728 S.E.2d at 475. Testimony by Randy did not excuse the fact that he was approached by the Appellant to kill her father and brother for \$20,000.00, and was provided a gun that was the same caliber of the bullets that were removed from the father's body, a gun that matched a gun that was reported stolen by the Appellant nine months earlier. This statement also does not excuse the abundance of money the Appellant received due to the deaths of her father and brother and the searches that were found in her phone after it was recovered pursuant to a valid search warrant. If this statement was not made, all of this evidence would have still been presented to the jury proving her guilt. Error is harmless when it 'could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial.' *Id.*, 398 S.C. at 389, 728 S.E.2d at 475, quoting, *State v. Key*, 256 S.C. 90, 180 S.E.2d 888 (1971). There was ample evidence presented proving the Appellant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt that had nothing to do with this statement made by the Randy. The harmless error doctrine recognizes the principle that the central purpose of a criminal trial is to decide the factual question of the defendant's guilt or innocence. *Delaware v. VanArsdall*, 475 U.S. 673, 681, 106 S.Ct. 1431, 1436 (1986).

**CONCLUSION**

The trial court made the proper decisions regarding this matter, so the Respondent respectfully requests this Court affirm the decision of the trial court.